

## The Research Based Design of Kaplan Early Learning Company Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations on Multi-Touch Devices for Early Childhood Education

**Research White Paper** 

John Richards, Ph.D. Consulting Services for Education

Leslie Stebbins, M.Ed., MLIS Consulting Services for Education

Angela Nelson, M.Ed., J.D. Consulting Services for Education





## Authors

John Richards, Ph.D., is Founder and President of Consulting Services for Education, Inc. (CS4Ed), and Adjunct Faculty at the Harvard Graduate School of Education where he teaches Entrepreneurship in the Education Marketplace. John was President of the JASON Foundation, GM of Turner Learning, the educational arm of Turner Broadcasting, and GM of the Educational Technologies Division of Bolt Beranek and Newman that launched the award winning Co-NECT school design. John's projects have won him numerous awards including two Golden Lamps and several CODIEs, as well as several EMMY nominations. He is the author/editor of four books; over 90 articles, book chapters, and research reports; and has been responsible for the publication of over 1,000 educational products. With Chris Dede, he co-edited *Digital Teaching Platforms* for Teachers College Press.

**Leslie Stebbins, M.Ed. MLIS** is the Director for Research at Consulting Services for Education. Leslie has more than twenty-five years of experience in education with a background in library and information science, instructional design, and teaching. She worked for 18 years at Brandeis University as an instructional designer and research librarian and has served as a consultant to Tufts University, Facing History and Ourselves, the California State University system, Harvard University, and the U.S. Department of Education on issues relating to learning and technology. She is the author of numerous articles and books including *Finding Reliable Information Online: Adventures of an Information Sleuth* for Rowman & Littlefield and *Games for a Digital Age: K-12 Market Map and Investment Analysis* with John Richards and Kurt Moellering for the Cooney Center sponsored by the Gates Foundation.

**Angela Nelson, M.Ed., J.D** is the Partner and Vice-President of Product Development for Consulting Services for Education. She is also the CEO and President of Stages Learning and a teaching fellow at the Harvard Graduate School of Education. Angela founded Stages Learning Materials in 1997 as a vehicle to publish and distribute her line of photobased teaching tools for children with autism and special needs. She recently created and authored Link4Fun Books and Cards. Angela studied behavioral psychology at UCLA under Dr. Ivar Lovaas, head of the premier program in the treatment and education of children with autism and has worked as a senior therapist for the Center for Autism and Related Disorders, supervising educational programs, performing assessments, and conducting workshops. While earning her J.D., she focused her studies on business, taking cross-departmental courses through the M.B.A. program at UCLA's Anderson School of Business Management. Angela holds a Board of Director's position for the National School Supply and Equipment Association (NSSEA) and serves on the NSSEA Legislative Committee advocating for important issues in education and educational manufacturing and publishing. Angela received her B.A. in Psychology, her J.D. from UCLA, and her Ed.M. from the Technology Innovation Education Program at the Harvard Graduate School of Education.

© 2017 by Consulting Services for Education (CS4Ed) All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America.

Recommended citation: Richards, J., Stebbins, L., Nelson, A. (July 2017). The Research Based Design of Kaplan Early Learning Company Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations on Multi-Touch Devices for Early Childhood Education. Research White Paper. Consulting Services for Education (CS4Ed).

## Contents

Executive Summary			
Research on Early Childhood Education: <i>What Matters Most?</i>			
Social and Emotional Development	5		
The Importance of Play	6		
Engaging Children in Early Math Experiences	7		
Collaborative Learning in Young Children	8		
New Research on Technologies Designed for Early Childhood	8		
Digital Tools to Support Social and Emotional Development	9		
Digital Tools to Support Play	9		
Digital Tools to Support Early Math	0		
Computer Supported Collaborative Learning (CSCL)	0		
Development of Fine Motor Skills with Multi-Touch Devices	2		
The Research Behind "Shine-2 Explorations"	2		
References			

## List of Tables

Table 1: Description of the 5 Shine™ Explorations Under Study	14
Table 2: Early Learning Outcomes and Shine™ Explorations on Multi-Touch Devices	15



## **Executive Summary**

Research provides us with many proven avenues to support young learners and prepare them for entering kindergarten. Chief among these strategies are:

- + Support for Social and Emotional Development
- + The Importance of Play
- + Engaging Children in Early Mathematical Experiences
- + Providing Collaborative Learning Opportunities

While these skills are not the only ones necessary to ensure school readiness, they are of major importance and provide the focus for this Research White Paper and are the basis of the design of the Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations software and multi-touch devices created by Kaplan Early Learning Company.

New technologies are now physically and intuitively accessible to young learners. Similar to earlier tools used in the preschool classroom, such as sand and water tables, these new tools expand the ways children can experiment and learn as they work together to develop social and emotional competencies, interact with engaging early math opportunities, and experience the joys and challenges of working collaboratively with others to enhance learning. In a new study on technology mediated collaborative learning, researchers concluded that:

Because young children are mastering social learning, building collective agency is frequently complicated by impulsivity and conflict. The multi-touch table delivered a singular environment in which common goals were built into the activities providing an opportunity for individual and collective agency as well as social learning. Apps [Shine™ Explorations] included built-in goals all children could see as they manipulated apps, producing shared goals. (Karno & Hatcher, 2017)

The design of Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations used on multitouch devices is based on current research about what matters most in early childhood education. By providing a structure and platform that supports early childhood educators in helping children develop social and emotional skills through open-ended play experiences and early collaborative learning experiences, Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations facilitates the abilities that children need to succeed in later schooling.

## Research on Early Childhood Education: What Matters Most?

The field of early childhood education is relatively new. Until the early 1960s the focus on young children was largely on developmental milestones rather than educational interventions. In the 1960s scholars increasingly recognized the value of preparing children to enter formal schooling. They also recognized that the differing abilities of children under six followed them into kindergarten and beyond: those deficient in basic social and early academic skills would continue to face challenges in elementary school and beyond.

Researchers now recognize that support for social and emotional learning, providing tools and activities for open-ended play, giving children opportunities to conceptually explore early math, and encouraging children to collaborate and learn together with their peers are essential for helping children enter kindergarten prepared to thrive as learners.



#### Social and Emotional Development

Supporting positive social and emotional development in preschool provides the foundation for learning and succeeding in elementary school and beyond (Head Start, 2015). Kindergarten teachers report that about 20% of children entering kindergarten do not have the social and emotional skills to be "ready" for school. Research also demonstrates that for very low-income children this percentage is likely to be as high as 30 percent (Boyd et al., 2005).

Social development is defined as a child's ability to have meaningful relationships with other children and with adults. Relationships with others provide children with the opportunity to practice skills and improve problemsolving capabilities as they learn to compromise and cooperate with others. Emotional development is defined as the child's ability to express and manage emotions and recognize and respond appropriately to the emotions of other people. The preschool years are a crucial time for helping children learn to manage their relationships and build social skills.

Research indicates that there is a strong connection between children's social and emotional abilities and school readiness (Willis & Schiller 2011). Teachers play an important role in fostering preschooler growth in these areas. In a review of the research on the emotional basis of learning and development in early childhood education, researchers found that social success is strongly connected to succeeding as a learner. Children who enter kindergarten with strong positive profiles in social and emotional development adjust much better to formal schooling and also have improved grades and achievement (Denham et al., 2013).

Emotional competence entails the ability to make and sustain friendships and initiate positive relationships with teachers. This results in children having more positive attitudes about school and participating more fully in learning and other activities at school. Emotional regulatory abilities also strongly factor into school success (Denham, et al., 2010). In the past decade, educators and researchers are increasingly recognizing that there needs to be more training to help teachers create an atmosphere in preschool that supports strong social and emotional development. Evidence based practices for supporting development in these domains include:

- 1. Modeling genuine, appropriate emotional responses
- 2. Helping children to understand their own and others' emotions
- 3. Supporting children's regulation of emotions
- 4. Recognizing and honoring children's expressive styles while promoting appropriate expressiveness
- 5. Giving children many opportunities to experience the joys and to overcome the frustrations of new learning opportunities (Denhan et al., 2013)

Preschool teachers vary in their abilities to support social and emotional learning, and some do not view this type of support as inherent in their duties (Hyson & Lee, 1996). Current researchers call for the need to provide teachers with more evidence based tools that can help them support social and emotional development of preschoolers. Training and professional development activities also need to focus on this domain to help promote teachers' own social and emotional competencies so that teachers can better understand their role in promoting social and emotional learning in the classroom (Denham et al., 2013).

### The Importance of Play

Most educators and researchers agree that play is an important component of early childhood education (Johnson et al., 2013). However, the recent emphasis on early learning standards and assessment has sometimes led policymakers to argue for more structure and direct instruction in early childhood education (Christie & Roskos, 2007). Researchers have begun to focus efforts on more clearly defining what is meant by the word "play" as they continue to explore the ways in which play is an important component of early learning. Play is a complex phenomenon: The definition of play incorporates positive affect, the emphasis on process over product, intrinsic motivation, free choice, and non-literality (Johnson et al., 2013). Researchers and educators recognize play as important for fostering growth and development in self-regulation, social competence, early academics, physical well-being, problem-solving, and creativity (Johnson et al., 2013).

The strategic use of play in preschool settings to foster development in various school readiness skills includes a combination of adult emotional support, child initiation, self agency, cognitive challenges, and support for private speech as well as collaborative talk. Researchers have found a link between providing children with opportunities for well supported play and observing later positive and cooperative behaviors during required activities such as circle time and clean up (Elias & Berk, 2002).

Peer interactions during open-ended play can improve social skills, cooperation, and confidence building. Researchers found that when young children are able to drive play activities and pursue their own ideas there is more cooperation, rich language use, problem solving, and reciprocity (Broadhead, Howard & Wood, 2010). Play during preschool helps children to be more successful in their later school years because play can help them learn skills such as taking turns, following directions, and performing other tasks related to functioning effectively in the classroom. Play also supports emerging literacy and numeracy (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2009).

Play continues to hold a valued place in the preschool curriculum. Teachers serve as important facilitators in encouraging appropriate play. Supporting teachers through curriculum, tools, strategies and professional development activities can help bring the research on what is known about play into the classroom to support learning and growth. New learning tools and technologies can help foster open-ended play when they are appropriately designed and supervised in preschool learning settings. The Fred Rogers Center recognizes that high quality digital media tools can help foster interactions among children and that, especially for children younger than age five, technology should promote interactivity and joint engagement peer-to-peer as well as child to adult (U.S. Department of Education, 2016).

### **Engaging Children in Early Math Experiences**

The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics stated in 2000 that the foundation for children's development in math is established in the earliest years. The National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) also states that: "high-quality, developmentally appropriate mathematics education for children 3-6 is vital" (NAEYC, 2012).

Math learned in early childhood consists of:

- Number sense: for example, "3" represents
   3 objects and is less than 4
- + Geometry: for example, recognizing shapes and patterns
- + Measurement: for example distance and size
- + The language of math such as "equal to"
- + Spatial relations such as "in front of "or "far away"

Young children tend to be naturally curious about math and children use math by talking, playing and doing. Research shows that young children learn about math in a non-linear fashion as they experiment through play (National Mathematics Advisory Panel, 2008).

There is a significant amount of research that demonstrates that early math knowledge greatly influences subsequent learning. In a meta-analysis of six longitudinal data sets, children's early knowledge of math was found to be a more important indicator of overall school success by middle childhood than other data examined such as verbal, reading, attention, social or oral language skills (Duncan et al., 2007). Educators have been concerned for many years that socioeconomically disadvantaged children begin school with much less exposure and math knowledge than their middle-income peers (Jordan et al., 2006). Due to differences in the content and quality of communications about math between parents and children from different economic and cultural groups, preschool has become an important place for compensating for this deficit in exposure to math.

A fundamental skill that children need to learn in preschool is early number and operation sense. Instruction in numeracy assists children in making quantitative comparisons. Much of early number learning relates to providing children with the ability to make comparisons between different objects, such as which pencil is longer (Sophian, 2013). Research support for focusing on the importance of quantitative comparisons leads educators to encourage children to use numbers to compare collections of items rather than just attaching a numerical value to a single collection of items. Using different types of numerical units can also help children better understand and generalize numerical relations (Sophian, 2013).

In early childhood, working with numbers and operations through engaging activities can provide children with an intuitive feel for how numbers are related and how they behave. Children develop this intuitive sense by connecting knowledge about numbers and operations (Baroody, 2006). Early childhood educators need tools for supporting preschoolers in developing informal math knowledge and thinking, because this is an area that is sometimes overlooked in preschool classrooms where teachers focus more on learning by rote: counting, reading and writing numerals, and reciting early operations such as "1 plus 1 makes 2." (Baroody, 2006).

New research has focused attention on the development of spatial skills and the link between these skills and math, and later success in science, technology, engineering, and advanced math (Wai et al., 2010). Children use spatial skills when working on puzzles, with blocks, or using interactive digital tools. Children with strong spatial skills typically also excel in math (Mix & Cheng, 2012). A new longitudinal test has been developed to measure spatial skills of 3 to 5-year-olds, and researchers have found that spatial experiences can play a strong role in children's math skills around the time that they enter kindergarten (Verdine et al., 2017).

Early math for preschool should include engaging children in one-to-one correspondence activities such as completing shape puzzles, or classifying and sorting objects into piles. Equivalence activities can also be included such as determining if two sets of objects have the same number. Research indicates that counting experiences are connected to extending young children's comprehension of numbers beyond their intuitive number sense (Fuson, 1992). There is also some evidence that pattern recognition can speed the development of the ability to move from intuitive number sense to the process of abstracting (Broody, 2006). The frequency of experiences with high quality informal number related activities has been correlated to numerical knowledge measured by achievement tests (Klibonoff et al., 2006). A substantial body of research also indicates that preschool math performance is predictive of math achievement in later schooling (Sophian, 2013). Developmentally appropriate early math experiences need to be consciously supported by providing preschool teachers with information, training, and tools that support early math skills.

### **Providing Support for Collaborative Learning**

The benefits of collaborative learning have been well established in research on learning success. Collaborative learning consists of learning that takes place when two or more students work together to solve a problem, develop a joint understanding, or complete a task together (Mercier et al., 2015). Until recently most researchers focused their studies on older children with the assumption that younger children were unable to truly work collaboratively to accomplish shared goals. In the last two decades researchers have taken a closer look at the role collaborative learning can play in early childhood learning and development. There is consensus among these researchers of the importance of collaborative activities in the learning process and that the essential component to successful collaborative learning activities for young children is appropriate teacher mediation (Gomez et al., 2013; Lara-Cinisomo et al., 2004).

Collaboration is currently viewed as an important component for school readiness (Lara-Cinisomo et al., 2004). School-readiness skills are the fundamental skills that children need to develop in order to be successful in elementary school (Astington & Pelletier, 2005). These skills include social abilities that help foster more specific proficiencies such as early literacy and numeracy (Ziv et al., 2008). Preschool has gained importance in serving as the place where the groundwork for developing social and collaborative skills can be learned. A recent study found clear benefits of collaboration on cognitive development for young children that were the same age. Collaborative activities were beneficial for improving visual perception, problem-solving, and rule-based thinking. The study also found that collaboration is particularly beneficial for lower-ability children who are working with higher-ability children (Sills et al., 2016).

While the benefits of helping children develop collaborative skills makes sense at any age, researchers have now documented the role collaborative learning plays in early social development. When children are able to develop an understanding of their own beliefs and intentions, along with understanding the beliefs and intentions of others, this impacts their social interactions (Carpendale & Lewis, 2006). As children learn the importance of working well with others toward common goals, and developing an understanding of another child's perspective, they are then better able to understand their own perspective on how to solve a problem (Gillies, 2006). Young children also are able to learn that the world exists independently of their own needs, and they begin to consider other points of views (Fawcett & Garton, 2005).

Developing collaborative skills in young children can be challenging for teachers. Providing teachers with specific strategies to promote collaborative learning activities and support the social and emotional learning of young children is essential. Teachers need to create a setting that promotes a supportive environment and help reinforce positive interactions between children in order to set the stage for collaborative learning to take place (Battistich & Watson, 2003). Researchers have started to investigate new technologies that provide computer mediated collaborative learning (Zurita & Nussbaum, 2004). While technologies can help set the stage and provide support and a location for collaborative learning to potentially take place, the role of the teacher is key in providing a classroom culture that promotes social and collaborative learning (Szewkis et al., 2011).

### New Research on Technologies Designed for Early Childhood

As digital tools become more interactive and accessible for young children, researchers are taking a closer look at the potential benefits of digital tool use by young children. In a systematic literature review of 87 empirical studies on how technologies influence young children's learning the authors found that:

The majority of the reviewed studies revealed that the technologies had positive effects on children's performance across developmental domains. Particularly, in social domain [stet], most studies showed that technologies enhanced children's collaboration and interaction with others and their development of multiculturalism (Hsin et al., 2013) In 2012 the National Association for the Education of Young Children and the Fred Rogers Center for Early Learning and Children's Media issued a joint position paper stating that when appropriately used with adult supervision, interactive technologies can provide valuable tools for early learning and social development. They state that:

#### Active, appropriate use of technology and media can support and extend traditional materials in valuable ways ... both cognitive and social" (NAEYC, 2012).

The report also stated that interactive technologies can be beneficial when they are based on solid research about how young children develop and learn. These new tools also need to provide educators with a structure to facilitate what matters most, such as support for social and emotional development, opportunities for open-ended play, providing early collaborative learning experiences, and the development of early math skills.



# Digital Tools to Support Social and Emotional Development

Research has documented the ways that new digital tools can support social and emotional learning in young children by providing interactive experiences that promote peer to peer learning (NAEYC, 2012). Technology can also provide ways for children to connect to others through personalizing, saving, revisiting and sharing digital projects and experiences (NAEYC 2012; Bers & Kazakoff, 2013). Well designed tools provide support and scaffolding for appropriate use by early childhood teachers. When used intentionally, new tools can enhance the daily interactions and activities of preschoolers (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; NAEYC, 2012). Dr. Bers, a researcher at Tufts University, states that:

#### New technologies make possible different kinds of learning opportunities, new ways for peer social interactions, and many possibilities for creativity, social and cognitive development.

Other researchers have noted that children are no longer passive consumers of technologies; they take an active role in creating and sharing information with others (Berson, 2003). Tools that are designed for a preschool classroom can facilitate social interaction among peers by encouraging peer learning, peer teaching, communication, and cooperation (Bers & Kazakoff, 2013).

Technologies for preschool that support interactivity, rather than drill and practice types of software, have been shown by researchers to foster communication and social development between peers. In research that compared children playing with Play-Doh and blocks versus children playing with a computer program, children spoke twice as many words per minute while using the computer (New & Cochran, 2007). In a related study, children spoke to their peers nine times as often when using a computer than when completing a physical puzzle (Muller & Perlmutter, 1985).

There is also evidence that children develop cooperative behaviors such as sharing and turn-taking when they use technology in small groups (Bergin et al, 1993). Digital games and interactive experiences can be extremely motivating because they engage children emotionally and behaviorally for longer periods of time than traditional teaching methods. Even children with ADHD, whose attention can frequently wander, have shown high levels of sustained attention to digital learning tools and games often due to the immediacy of feedback (Shute & Miksad, 1997).

### **Digital Tools to Support Play**

Interactions with technology for young children should be playful and support exploration, pretend play, and active play (NAEYC, 2012). Children's use of new tools can be similar to their interactions with other learning tools at preschool such as blocks or manipulatives. Research supports the appropriate use of new digital tools for young children that:

- + Support sensorimotor practice
- + Provide opportunities to explore in playful and creative ways
- Allow children to control the outcome of the experience
- + Provide children with opportunities to explore the functionality of the tools (NAEYC, 2012)

Research has highlighted the importance of play in fostering growth and development in self-regulation, social competence, early academics, physical well-being, problemsolving, and creativity (Johnson et al., 2013). Digital tools that are designed to provide experiences in open-ended play in preschool settings can foster the development of school readiness skills and help children practice social skills such as taking turns and following directions.

### **Digital Tools to Support Early Math**



The research based design of new digital tools for early learning is moving away from the drill and practice types of programs to technologies that promote content creation and problem solving. These new learning tools share an emphasis on constructionist learning environments that give children tools to construct openended learning activities (Resnick, 1986). These tools can provide children with engaging opportunities for spatial development and informal ways to learn about math reasoning and quantitative comparisons. New interactive technologies can provide children with engaging and inventive ways to begin to understand one-to-one correspondence by completing digital shape puzzles, classifying and sorting objects into piles, or practicing equivalence activities such as determining if two collections of objects have the same number. Engaging technologies with proper teacher involvement can provide frequent practice with informal number related activities that give students the experiences they need to be ready to enter kindergarten.

In a 2014 report on math in early childhood and primary education the researchers point out that:

Digital technologies are the cultural tools of today's digitized society. Their role as mediators of human learning is increasingly more complex when one considers the range and scope of computational tools currently available. As mediating tools, they function as intellectual partners with learners in order to enable them to think in ways that otherwise they would not or could not (Dunphy et al., 2014).

Educators no longer question the use of tools such as calculators in advanced math learning or manipulatives in early math learning. By facilitating the ability of students, young or old, to learn by constructing knowledge, new digital tools can provide more than just engagement and time on task. Jonassen (1996) uses the term 'mindtools' to call attention to the power of digital tools to support knowledge construction. He argues that digital technologies should:

"not support learning by attempting to instruct learners but rather should be used as knowledge construction tools that students can learn with, not from."

# Computer Supported Collaborative Learning (CSCL)

Computer Supported Collaborative Learning (CSCL) is a pedagogical approach that involves computer mediated social interaction among learners. Students share and construct knowledge together using a digital learning tool that is designed to support collaborative learning activities. Collaborative learning is now seen as an important skill for children to begin to learn in preschool to be ready for the more formal education that begins in kindergarten. One of the key variables in implementing successful collaborative learning activities for young children is that the teacher creates a safe and supportive atmosphere to lay the groundwork for collaborative learning to occur. In addition, new research indicates that multi-touch devices such as table PCs or handheld tablet computers can provide support and mediation for collaborative learning activities to take place in early childhood education experiences.

Multi-touch devices were initially developed in the eighties, but have evolved significantly since that time. New multi-touch devices now offer more sophisticated input and processing mechanisms to allow users to interact with these devices in much more intuitive and natural ways. Because these newer devices are so intuitive, they have become a natural choice for early childhood education (Rideout, 2011). Multi-touch tables as well as tablet computers are particularly suited to young children because direct touching is used to select items on the screen rather than having to type commands. Also, young children find that the direct and rapid manipulation and incremental actions are particularly engaging on multi-touch devices (Schneiderman & Plaisant, 2004).

Prior to touch screen technologies, young children had difficulty using a mouse and keyboard connected to computers due to fine motor skill challenges and the absence of an intuitive interface (Nacher et al., 2017). Several studies have verified that multi-touch devices can be operated by children as young as 3-years-old, and that there appears to be no significant difference in learning between children playing with real objects versus children manipulating objects on a multi-touch device (Mansor et al., 2009; Sluis et al., 2004; Tyng et al., 2011).

One exciting new stream of research has been investigating how multi-touch tables can promote collaborative activities and support learning between peers (Gomez, 2013; Mercier et al., 2015). Research on elementary school-aged children using multi-touch tables indicates that groups are more task focused and their conversations are more interactive when they are using multi-touch tables than when they are using singletouch or paper-based activities (Mercier et al., 2015). In a qualitative study investigating the use of software designed for multi-touch screens researchers noted that the size of the Engage 2 Multi-Touch Table was particularly well-suited to allow preschoolers to move around the table while interacting with their peers (Karno & Hatcher, 2017). While there have only been a few studies done investigating how multi-touch devices can promote collaborative learning, initial findings are encouraging (Jackson et al., 2013; McEwen & Dube, 2015).

Research using a social cognitive theoretical framework investigated how collective agency might be supported through a learning environment using a multi-touch table. This study found that the learning activity itself, Kaplan Early Learning Company Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations, helped foster collaborative activities and working toward common goals. The researchers concluded that the multitouch table combined with the Explorations software fostered collaborative learning. They concluded:

Because young children are mastering social learning, building collective agency is frequently complicated by impulsivity and conflict. The multi-touch table delivered a singular environment in which common goals were built into the activities, providing an opportunity for individual and collective agency as well as social learning. Apps included built-in goals all children could see as they manipulated apps, producing shared goals. (Karno & Hatcher, 2017)

A joint position paper issued by the National Association for the Education of Young Children and the Fred Rogers Center for Early Learning and Children's Media stated that new interactive media, such as multi-touch tables, have the potential to resolve concerns that have been associated with children learning on single-use computers because these new devices support interactive and collaborative activities. The paper stated that:

Technology and interactive media are tools that can promote effective learning and development when they are used intentionally by early childhood educators, within the framework of developmentally appropriate practice to support learning goals established for individual children.

Also stated in the paper was that the teacher is the "lynchpin" in achieving appropriate and intentional use of interactive technologies and that educators are in need of positive examples on how to best use and integrate technology into learning.

# Development of Fine Motor Skills with Multi-Touch Devices



Prior to the development of multi-touch devices, children under the age of five had challenges using technology. Keyboards and tracking pads used with laptops and traditional personal computers require fine motor skills as well as cognitive skills to understand symbols and letters on the keyboard. With the creation of multi-touch devices with intuitive screens younger children can more easily use these devices. (NAEYC, 2012).

Researchers have found that even children as young as two years old can interact effectively with multi-touch devices (Chiong & Shuler, 2010). Unlike interactions with traditional computers, young children can explore touchscreens such as multi-touch tables independently and make choices based on audio and visual prompts (Levine, 2011). Multi-touch devices provide young children with more control over their learning experiences and allow them to actively participate with the content presented on the device (Geist, 2014). Multi-touch tables in particular facilitate sharing and group activities as young children in a group can all interact around the table together (Karno & Hatcher, 2017).

Research on young children's use of tablet computers suggests that these devices provide opportunities for practice and refinement of skills for children with poor fine motor skills while providing an engaging experience that increases the chances that students will persevere when using these devices (Aronin, 2013). Researchers explored whether using the correct amount of pressure on a tablet might prove too challenging for young learners. Their findings suggest that learning to use a tablet helped students develop fine motor skills and that children would persist in their attempts due to the strong motivational factors connected to using the tablet (Aronin, 2013).

Education specialists working with young children found that the light touch required by multi-touch devices appears to benefit young children who have not fully developed their fine motor skills as well as children with special needs who struggle with fine motor skill development. They reported that very little physical muscle strength was needed to operate a tablet (Saylor & Rodriguez-Gil, 2012).

## The Research Behind Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations



The design of Kaplan Early Learning Company Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations educational software is based on current research about how young children best learn and develop and gain the skills needed to successfully enter kindergarten. Drawing on current research on best practices for early childhood education, Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations was designed to support children in the areas of social and emotional development, open-ended creative play experiences, early math skills, and opportunities to engage in early collaborative learning activities.<sup>1</sup>

The overarching focus of the research design was for the Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations digital tools to be *exploratory*. Research shows that preschool learners need tools that support open-ended creative problem-solving and collaborative opportunities that support creativity. The essential skills that early learners need to be ready for

<sup>1</sup> Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations software is designed to support early learning in many areas including early literacy skills. This paper focuses on the areas of social and emotional development, open-ended play, early math skills, and computer supported collaborative learning.





kindergarten include social and emotional development as well as early math and literacy skills. Each of the 10 Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations encourages children to be creative problem solvers, explore their natural curiosity, and engage in open-ended play. The design process of the Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations digital tools has also focused on devising ways to support teachers in providing engaging, interactive, and collaboration based activities most suited for young children.

In the early days of computers, preschoolers were largely left out of the mix: personal computers were mousedriven, less intuitive, and often beyond the physical as well as intellectual abilities of young children. With the advent of multi-touch digital devices these new tools have become a natural place for children to experiment and create. Similar to earlier "technologies" in the preschool classroom, such as sand and water tables, multi-touch screens expand the possibilities of what children can experiment with and create. The Kaplan Early Learning Company Engage-2 is a multitouch table PC designed for early childhood. The table engages children as they learn new skills and explore together. It can be used as an activity center for small groups of three or four children or it can be shifted to a vertical position and used as an interactive display board. The 55 inch Inspire Plus and the 65 inch Inspire Ultra are 10 touch display tables that provide an interactive table surface or vertical board where 5 children can collaborate on learning activities.

This Research White Paper reviewed the following five Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations as used on the Engage-2, Inspire Ultra, and Inspire Plus multi-touch tables to verify the research base of these digital tools. Findings indicate that these Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations support social and emotional development, open-ended play, early math learning, and that they provide opportunities for collaborative learning. Details of approaches to learning that connect Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations with Early Learning Outcomes are listed in Table 2 at the end of this paper.

### Table 1: Description of the 5 Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations Under Study



There are 5 additional Shine<sup>™</sup> Explorations. More information is available at: https://www.kaplanco.com/Engage/

14

Early Learning Outcomes	Approaches to Learning	Shine-2 Explorations
Support for Social and Emotional Development	<ul> <li>Social development:</li> <li>Supports child's ability to have meaningful relationships with other children and adults</li> <li>Provides children with the opportunity to practice skills and improve problem solving capabilities as they learn to compromise and cooperate with others</li> <li>Emotional development:</li> <li>Supports child's ability to express, regulate, and manage emotions</li> <li>Supports child's ability to recognize and respond appropriately to the emotions of other people</li> <li>Provides opportunities for children to experience the joys and overcome the frustrations of new learning opportunities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>✓ Puzzle</li> <li>✓ Group Bubbles</li> <li>✓ Math Bubbles</li> <li>✓ Math Sentences</li> <li>✓ Insect Creator</li> </ul>
Support for Open-Ended Play	<ul> <li>Supports strategic use of play in preschool settings to foster development in school readiness skills</li> <li>Provides opportunities to explore in playful and creative ways</li> <li>Allows children to control the outcome of the experience</li> <li>Provides children with opportunities to explore the functionality of the tools</li> <li>Provides scaffolding for teacher to encourage open-ended play activities</li> <li>Includes a combination of adult emotional support and child initiation</li> <li>Supports self agency, cognitive challenges, and support for private speech as well as collaborative talk</li> <li>Emphasizes process over product and intrinsic motivation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>✓ Puzzle</li> <li>✓ Group Bubbles</li> <li>✓ Math Bubbles</li> <li>✓ Math Sentences</li> <li>✓ Insect Creator</li> </ul>
Support for Early Math	<ul> <li>Tool provides developmentally appropriate math education including opportunities for developing informal math knowledge and thinking</li> <li>Tool supports non-linear exploration and play to foster early math skills</li> <li>Tool supports quantitative comparisons and working with different types of numerical units</li> <li>Tool supports early childhood educators in supporting preschoolers in developing opportunities to experiment with math concepts</li> <li>Tool supports development of spatial skills and pattern recognition</li> <li>Tool supports one-to-one correspondence activities such as classifying or sorting objects into piles</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>✓ Math Bubbles</li> <li>✓ Math Sentences</li> </ul>
Support for Collaborative Learning	<ul> <li>Tool provides opportunities for children to learn in groups of two or more and work together to solve a problem, develop a joint understanding, or complete a task together</li> <li>Tool provides teachers with specific strategies to promote collaborative learning activities</li> <li>Tool provides opportunities for interactive activities that foster communication and social activities</li> </ul>	✓ Puzzle ✓ Group Bubbles ✓ Math Bubbles

### Table 2: Early Learning Outcomes and Shine™ Explorations Multi-Touch Devices

15

### References

American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media (2011). "Policy statement: Media use by children younger than 2 years." *Pediatrics* 128(5), 1040–1045.

Aronin, S. & Kim F. (March/April 2013). "Using an iPad in inclusive preschool classrooms to introduce STEM concepts." *Teaching Exceptional Children* 45, no. 4.

Astington, J. W. & Pelletier, J. (2005). Theory of mind, language, and learning in the early years: Developmental origins of school readiness. In B. D. Homer & C. Tamis-Lemonda, (Eds.) The development of social cognition and communication. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Barnyak, N.C. & McNelly, T. A. (2015) "Supporting young children's visual literacy through the use of e-books." *Young Children and Families in the Information Age* 10, 15-41.

Baroody, A. J., Lai, M., & Mix, K. S. (2006). The development of young children's early number and operation sense and its implications for early childhood education. In Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds) *Handbook of Research on the Education of Young Children,* 3rd Edition. New York: Routledge.

Battistich, V., & Watson, M. (2003). Fostering social development in pre-school and early elementary grades through cooperative classroom activities. In R.M. Gillies & A.F. Ashman (Eds.) *Co-operative learning.* London: Routledge Falmer

Bergin, David A.; Ford, Martin E.; Hess, Robert D. (Sept 1993). "Patterns of motivation and social behavior associated with microcomputer use of young children." *Journal of Educational Psychology* Vol 85(3).

Bers, Marina Umaschi & Elizabeth R. Kazakoff (2013). Techno-Tykes: Digital Technologies in Early Childhood. In Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds) *Handbook of Research on the Education of Young Children,* 3rd Edition. New York: Routledge.

Berson, Ilene (2003). Making the connection between brain processing and cyberawareness: A developmental reality. Proceedings of the Netsafe II: Society, Safety, and the Internet Symposium. Auckland, NZ. Boyd, Judi, Barnett, W. Steven, Bodrova, Elena, Leong, Deborah J. & Deanna Gomby. (March 2005) Promoting Children's Social and Emotional Development Through Preschool Education. Report. New Jersey: National Institute for Early Education Research. Available: http:// nieer.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/report7.pdf

Bricker, L. J., Tanimoto, S. L., Rothenberg, A. I., Hutama,
D. C., & Wong, T. H. (1995) Multiplayer activities that develop mathematical coordination. In The first international conference on Computer support for collaborative learning. Indiana University, Bloomington, Indiana, United States: L. Erlbaum Associates Inc.

Broadhead, P., Howard, J. & Wood, E., (Eds.) (2010) *Play and learning in the early years, from research to practice.* London, Sage.

Carpendale, J. I. M., & Lewis, C. (2006). How children develop social understanding. In *Understanding children's worlds.* Malden, MA: Oxford: Blackwell Pub.

Chiong, C. & C. Shuler (2010). Learning: Is there an app for that? *Investigations of young children's usage and learning with mobile devices and apps.* New York: The Joan Ganz Cooney Center at Sesame Workshop. Pbskids.org/read/ files/cooney\_learning\_apps.pdf.

Christie, J.F. & K.A. Roskos (2006). Standards, science and the role of play in early literacy education. In Play = learning: *How play motivates and enhances cognitive and social-emotional growth,* ed. D.G. Singer, R.M. Golinkoff, and K.A. Hirsh-Pasek, 57–73. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Denham Susanne & Chavaughn Brown (2010). "Plays nice with others: Social-emotional learning and academic success." *Early Education and Development* 21.

Denham, Susanne A., Zionsser, Katherin M. & Chavaughn Brown (2013). The emotional basis of learning and development in early childhood education. In Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds). *Handbook of Research on the Education of Young Children*, 3rd Edition. New York: Routledge.

Duncan, Greg J., Dowsett, Chantelle J., Claessens, Amy, Magnuson, Katherine (Nov 2007). "School readiness and later achievement." *Developmental Psychology* Vol 43(6) 1428 1446. Dunphy, Elizabeth & Thérèse Dooley (2014). Mathematics in Early Childhood and Primary Education (3–8 years) Definitions, Theories, Development and Progression. Research Report No. 17 Mathematics in Early Childhood and Primary Education (3–8 years). Dublin, Ireland: National Council for Curriculum and Assessment.

Elias, C. L., & Berk, L. E. (2002). "Self-regulation in young children: Is there a role for sociodramatic play?" *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 17, 216-238.

Fawcett, L. M., & Garton, A. F. (2005). "The effect of peer collaboration on children's problem-solving ability." *The British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75. 157–169.

Fuson, K. C. (2009). "Avoiding misinterpretations of Piaget and Vygotsky: Mathematical teaching without learning, learning without teaching, or helpful learning-path teaching?" *Cognitive Development:* 24.

Geist, E. (2014). "Using tablet computers with toddlers and young preschoolers." *Young Children.* http://sites. gsu.edu/bestpractices/files/2014/08/Using-Tablet-Computers-with-Toddlers-and-Young-Preschoolers-12aq5gs.pdf

Gillies, R. M. (2006). "Teachers' and students' verbal behaviours during cooperative and small-group learning." *The British Journal of Educational Psychology* 76, 271–287.

Gomez, F., Nussbaum, M., Weitz, J.F., Lopez, X., Mena, J., & Torres, A. (2013). "Co-Located Single Display Collaborative Learning for Early Childhood Education." *International Journal of Computer Supported Collaborative Learning* 8 (2). Page 225-244.

Haugland, S.W. (1992). "The effects of computer software on preschool children's developmental gains." *Journal of Computing in Childhood Education* 3(1), 15-30.

Head Start Early Learning Outcomes Framework: Ages Birth to Five (2015). Washington D.C.: Administration for Children and Families/Head Start.

Hirsh-Pasek, Kathy, Roberta, M.G., Berk, L.R. & Singer D. (2009) A mandate for playful learning in preschool. New York: Oxford University Press.

Hsin, C.-T., Li, M.-C., & Tsai, C.-C. (2014). "The Influence of Young Children's Use of Technology on Their Learning: A Review." *Educational Technology & Society*, 17 (4), 85–99. Hutchison, A.C., & Reinking, D. (2011). "Teachers' perceptions of integrating information and communication technologies into literacy instruction: A national survey in the U.S." *Reading Research Quarterly* 46, 312-333.

Hyson, M. C. & Lee. K. M. (1996). "Assessing early childhood teachers' beliefs about emotions: Content, context, and implications for practice." *Early Education and Development* 7, 59-78.

Jackson, A. T., Brummel, B. J., Pollet, C. L., & Greer, D. D. (2013). "An evaluation of interactive tabletops in elementary mathematics education." *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 61(2), 311-332.

Johnson, James E., Sevimli-Celik, Serap & Monirah Al-Mansour (2013). "Play in Early Childhood Education." In In Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds.) *Handbook of Research on the Education of Young Children,* 3rd Edition. New York: Routledge.

Jonassen, D.H., Carr, C. & Yueh, HP (1998). Computers as mind tools for engaging children in critical thinking. Techtrends 43 (24).

Jordan NC, Glutting J, & Ramineni C. (2008). "A number sense assessment tool for identifying children at risk for mathematical difficulties." In: Dowker A, Ed. *Mathematical difficulties: Psychology and intervention*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Karno, Donna., Hatcher, Beth (2017). "Multi-Touch Table Technology." Author copy, prepublication.

Kelly S. Mix & Yi Ling Cheng (2014). "Spatial Training Improves Children's Mathematics Ability." *Journal of Cognition and Development* 15 (1).

Lara-Cinisomo, S., Pebley, A. R., Vaiana, M. E., & Maggio, E. (2004). *Are L.A.'s children ready for school?* Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation. Available: http://www.rand.org/ pubs/monographs/MG145.

Levine, M. 2011. "The iTot challenge: getting young children ready in the Jetsonian age." *The Huffington Post* www.huffingtonpost.com/ michael-levine/the-itotchallenge-gettin\_b\_813407.html

Mangen, A. (2008). "Hypertext fiction reading: Haptics and immersion." *Journal of Research in Reading* 31(4), 404-419. Mansor, E.I., De Angeli, A., & de Bruijn, O. (2009). The fantasy table. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children. New York: ACM Press.

Maynard, S. (2010). "The impact of e-books on young children's reading habits." *Publishers Research Quarterly* 26(4) 236-248.

McEwen, Rhonda N. & Dubé, Adam K. (2015). "Engaging or distracting: Children's tablet computer use in education." *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 18(4), 9-23.

McManis L.D. & S. B. Gunnewig (2012). "Finding the education in education technology with early learners." *Technology and Young Children* from the National Association for the Education of Young Children. http://www.naeyc.org/yc/article/finding-education-ineducational-technology

Mercier, Emma, Vourloumi, Georgia & Higgins, Steven (2017). "Student interactions and the development of ideas in multi-touch and paper-based collaborative mathematical problem solving." *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 48: 162–175.

Morgan, H. (2013). "Multimodal children's e-books help young learners in reading." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 41, 477-483.

Muller, Alexandra A., Perlmutter, Marion (1985)."Preschool children's problem-solving interactions at computers and jigsaw puzzles." *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology* 6 (2-3).

Murray, J. (1997). *Hamlet on the holodeck: The future of narrative in cyberspace.* New York, NY: The Free Press.

Nacher, Vincent, Jaen, Javier & Alejandro Catala (2017). "Evaluating Multitouch Semiotics to Empower Prekindergarten Instruction with Interactive Surfaces." Interactive Computers, 29, (2): 97-116.

National Association for the Education of Young Children and Fred Rogers Center for Early Learning and Children's Media. (2012). Technology and interactive media as tools in early childhood programs serving children from birth through age 8: A joint position statement. http://www.naeyc.org/fi les/ naeyc/fi le/positions/PS\_ technology\_WEB2.pdf National Mathematics Advisory Panel (2008). Foundations for success: the final report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education New, R. S. & Cochran, M. (Eds) (2007). *Early childhood education: an international encyclopedia* Vol. 3. Westport, CT: Praeger.

Resnick, L. (1987). Education and learning to think. Committee on Mathematics, Science and Technology Education; Committee on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, National Research Council. Washington, DC: National Acadamy Press.

Rideout, Victoria (2011). Zero to Eight: Children's Media Use in America. San Francisco, CA: Common Sense Media. Available: www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/ default/files/research/zerotoeightfinal2011.pdf.

Roskos, K. Burstein, K. & You, B.K. (2012). "A typology for observing children's engagement with eBooks at preschool." *Journal of Interactive Online Learning* 11(2) 47-66. http://www.ncolr.org/jiol/issues/pdf/11.2.1.pdf

Sankey, M. Birch, D. & Gardiner, M. (2010). Engaging students through multimodal learning environments: The journey continues. Proceedings of the Ascilite Conference in Sydney.

Saracho, Olivia & Spodek, Bernard (Eds.) (2013). *Handbook* of Research on the Education of Young Children, Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho, (Eds) 3rd Edition. New New York: Routledge.

Saylor, Cristi M. & Gloria Rodriguez-Gil. (Fall 2012). "Using the iPad and a sequence of apps for young children with multiple disabilities." *reSources* 17, no. 2.

Schneiderman, Ben & Catherine Plaisant (2004). *Designing the User Interface: Strategies for Effective Human-Computer Interaction,* 4th Ed. Pearson Addison Wesley.

Shute, R., & Miksad, J. (1997). "Computer assisted instruction and cognitive development in preschoolers." Child Study Journal, 27(3), 237–253.

Sills, J; Rowse, G.; Emerson, Lisa M. (May 2016). "The role of collaboration in the cognitive development of young children: a systematic review." *Child Care Health and Development* 42(3), 313-324.

Sluis, R.J., Weevers, I., Van Schijndel, C., Kolos-Mazuryk (2004). Read-it: five-to-seven-year-old children learn to read in a tabletop environment. In: Proceedings of the 2004 Conference on Interaction Design and Children Building a Community. New York: ACM Press. Sophian, Catherine (2013). Mathematics for Early Childhood Education. In Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds.) *Handbook of Research on the Education of Young Children*, 3rd Edition. New York: Routledge.

- Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds.) (2006) *Handbook* of research on the education of young children, 2nd Edition, Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Spodek, Bernard & Olivia Saracho (Eds.) (2013) *Handbook* of research on the education of young children, 3rd Edition, New York: Routledge.
- Szewkis, E., Nussbaum, M., Denard, F., Abalos, J., Rosen, T., Caballero, D. (2011). "Collaboration within large groups in the classroom." *International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning*, 6(4), 561–575.
- Tyng, K.S., Zaman, H.B., Ahmad, A. (2011). Visual application in multi-touch tabletop for mathematics learning: a preliminary study. In: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Visual Informatics: Sustaining Research and Innovations (IVIC'11). Springer, pp. 319–328.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology (2016). Policy Brief on Early Learning and Use of Technology, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- Vygotsky, L (1978). *Mind in society.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wai, J., Lubinski, D., Benbow, C.P., & Steiger, J.H. (2010). "Accomplishment in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) and its relation to STEM educational dose: A 25-year longitudinal study." *Journal* of Educational Psychology, 102, 860-871
- Willis, C.A., & P. Schiller (2011). "Preschoolers' social skills steer life success." Young Children 66 (1): 50-54.
- Ziv, M., Solomon, A., & Frye, D. (2008). Young children's recognition of the intentionality of teaching. *Child Development*, 79(5), 1237–1256.
- Zurita, G., & Nussbaum, M. (2004). "Computer supported collaborative learning using wirelessly interconnected handheld computers." *Computers in Education*, 42(3): 289–314.



To learn more please visit: https://www.kaplanco.com/technology

